C	ompan	y Reg	gistration	Number:	10689559	(Eng	gland 8	<b>&amp;</b> 1	Wales	)
---	-------	-------	------------	---------	----------	------	---------	----------------	-------	---

### **Britannia Education Trust**

(A company limited by guarantee)

Annual report and financial statements

For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### Contents

	Page
Reference and administrative details	1
Trustees' report	2 - 14
Governance statement	15 - 18
Statement of regularity, propriety and compliance	19
Statement of trustees' responsibilities	20
Independent auditors' report on the financial statements	21 - 25
Independent reporting accountant's report on regularity	26 - 27
Statement of financial activities incorporating income and expenditure account	28
Balance sheet	29
Statement of cash flows	30
Notes to the financial statements	31 - 57

#### **Britannia Education Trust**

#### (A company limited by guarantee)

#### REFERENCE AND ADMINISTRATIVE DETAILS

Members A Mawson

D Mann G Hicks H Thomas A Moore

**Trustees** H Fernandes, Chair of Trustees

R Burton (1)

M Niyibizi (appointed 10 October 2025)

E Boxer L Dawes (1) S Monaghan T Peake (1) S Obadan J Gordon (1) R Masters (1) L Bingham

(1) Member of the Finance and Audit Committee

**Company registered** 

**number** 10689559

Company name Britannia Education Trust

Principal and registered

office

Britannia Village Primary School

Westwood Road West Silvertown

London E16 2AW

Senior Leadership Team L Bingham, Executive Headteacher

R Hussain, Headteacher E Joseph, Headteacher

C James, Chief Financial Officer H Cleland, Business Manager

Independent auditors Kreston Reeves Audit LLP

Statutory Auditor Maritime Place Quayside

Chatham Maritime

Chatham Kent ME4 4QZ

#### Trustees' report For the year ended 31 August 2025

The Trustees present their annual report together with the financial statements and auditors' report of the charitable company for the year ended 31 August 2025. The annual report serves the purposes of both a Trustees' report, and a directors' report under company law.

Britannia Village Primary School (BVPS), an Academy for pupils aged 3 to 11 years serving a catchment area in West Silvertown, Newham. It has a pupil capacity of 420 plus a 30 FTE nursery (60 part time) and had a total roll of 405 plus 28 part time nursery in the Summer 2025 school census.

Royal Wharf Primary School (RWPS) which opened in September 2019 with reception pupils only and expanded to include Year 5 in the 2024/25 year. RWPS had a capacity of 360 plus 30 FTE (60 part time) nursery and had a total roll of 357 plus 33 part time nursery in the Summer 2025 school census.

#### Structure, Governance and Management

#### Constitution

The Academy Trust is a company limited by guarantee and an exempt charity. The charitable company's memorandum and articles of association are the primary governing documents of the Academy Trust. The Trustees of Britannia Education Trust are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law.

Details of the Trustees who served during the year and to the date these accounts are approved are included in the Reference and Administrative Details on page 1.

#### **Members' Liability**

Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the charitable company in the event of it being wound up while they are a member, or within one year after they cease to be a member, such amount as may be required, not exceeding £10, for the debts and liabilities contracted before they ceased to be a member.

#### Trustees' Indemnities

In accordance with normal commercial practice the Trust has purchased insurance to protect Trustees and Officers from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on Trust business. The Britannia Education Trust is covered through the Department for Education's Risk Protection Arrangements (RPA). The insurance provides £10,000,000 cover on any one claim and details of the costs are included in note 14 to the accounts.

#### Method of Recruitment and Appointment or Election of Trustees

The arrangements are as set out in the Articles and Funding Agreement.

Trustees may be appointed by the Members, elected by parents or co-opted by the Board of Trustees and are in post for four years. The CEO is an ex officio member of the Board of Trustees. Parent Trustees are elected to office or appointed if there are insufficient candidates offering themselves for election. The Articles of Association allow members to appoint up to nine Trustees. There must also be a minimum of two Parent Trustees. The Board of Trustees may also appoint additional Trustees (Co-opted Trustees) under rule 58. Employees of the Trust (including the CEO) must not exceed one third of the total number of Trustees.

Trustees' report (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### Policies and Procedures Adopted for the Induction and Training of Trustees

The Charitable Company is committed to providing adequate opportunities for Trustees to undertake and receive suitable training so as to enable them to perform their role effectively. To this end the Trust provides an internal programme of continued professional development led by School staff and links with a number of local training providers. Trustees complete an annual skills audit, which alongside identifying strengths, also identifies areas they would like to develop. This is then used to inform targeted training in specific areas. In addition, the Trust purchases a Service Level Agreement (SLA) from the local school's service Governors Support Section, which offers a comprehensive package of training and support.

All new Trustees are entitled to an induction to the role, according to their need, which may include, introductory sessions, mentoring and formal courses. This process will involve a meeting with the Chair of Trustees and CEO. All Trustees have access to a handbook plus copies of policies and procedures documents that are appropriate to the role they undertake as Trustees with particular emphasis on the committee work that they will undertake.

#### **Organisational Structure**

The governance structure of the Trust is defined in the Memorandum and Articles of Association together with the Funding Agreement with the Department of Education. The Scheme of Delegation (Appendix C) sets out the level at which decisions are made.

The Board of Trustees, which meets on at least three occasions per year and each individual committee at least three times per year, is responsible for the strategic direction of the Trust and its Academies. The Board reviews progress towards educational objectives and results; monitors the budget; sets the budget for the following year; and sets the organisational staffing structure. A pay committee agrees the performance objectives of the CEO and reviews them. The CEO agrees and reviews the performance objectives of the Headteachers. The CEO is the designated Accounting Officer and has overall responsibility for the day to day financial management of the Charitable Company. Responsibility for low values of expenditure are delegated to specific budget holders who are responsible for managing their own departments within their allocated budgets. A system of financial controls is in place to manage this process.

The CEO/Executive Head oversees both schools. During the year the Senior Leadership Team (SLT) which included a Deputy Head, an Assistant Head, three Senior Leaders and the Trust Business Manager assisted the Headteachers and Executive Head and had Trust wide elements to their roles and responsibilities as well as school specific.

#### Arrangements for setting pay and remuneration of key management personnel

The Trust applies the School Teachers Pay and Conditions Document (STPCD) published annually by the DfE. The Trust has adopted the Local Authority pay policy which follows the STPCD regarding pay scales and ranges. This policy applies to all staff including key management personnel.

The Trust has adopted the Local Authority performance management policy. All staff, including the SLT, have clear performance management targets closely linked to the Trust's development plan. If all targets are met and clear evidence provided, the staff member receives an incremental point (until reaching the top of the pay range) in line with the policy, recommended by their line manager and authorised by the CEO.

For experienced teachers to gain access to the upper threshold, in addition, a professional portfolio must be presented to the Headteachers for assessment. The Trustees receive anonymised reports detailing performance grades, meeting of targets and upper threshold payments.

For the CEO's appraisal, the Chair of the Trustees and up to two other Trustees meet to review the CEO's evidence against the agreed targets. If targets have been met the Chair of Trustees will approve the pay award.

The procedure is minuted at Finance, Audit and HR Committee meetings.

Trustees' report (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### Trade union facility time

#### Trade union facility time

#### Relevant union officials

Number of employees who were relevant union officials during the relevant period	Full-time equivalent employee number		
2	1.6		

#### Percentage of time spent on facility time

Percentage of time	Number of employees
0%	2
1%-50%	0
51%-99%	0
100%	0

#### Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time

Provide the total cost of facility time	nil
Provide the total pay bill	£5,072,015
Provide the percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time, calculated as:  (total cost of facility time ÷ total pay bill) ×100	nil

#### Paid trade union activities

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of total paid facility time hours calculated as: (total hours spent on paid trade union activities by relevant union officials during the relevant period ÷ total	0%
paid facility time hours) ×100	

#### Related Parties and other Connected Charities and Organisations

Owing to the nature of the Trust's operations and the composition of the Board of Trustees being drawn from local public and private sector organisations, it is inevitable that from time to time transactions will take place with organisations in which Trustees may have an interest. All transactions involving such organisations are conducted at arm's length and in accordance with the Trust's financial regulations and normal procedures. Any transaction where the Trustee may have a pecuniary interest is only undertaken in accordance with the 'at cost' principle described in the Academy Trust Handbook.

The Trust cooperates with the following organisations in pursuit of its charitable activities:

- SEND and Behaviour Support services are purchased from the Local Authority.
- Health and Safety, Governor, Data Protection Officer, Payroll and HR services are purchased from The Education Space (formerly Newham Partnership Working).
- The CEO is a member of the Newham Association of Primary Headteachers (NAPH).
- The Creative Arts Partnership is a cluster of 7 schools. The Heads meet to plan Festival Of Voices an annual singing performance featuring children from years 4 or 5.
- The Trust works with Oasis Academy Silvertown to aid transition from Year 6 to Year 7
- The Trust works with and supports the work of West Silvertown Foundation (WSF) to provide services and events to benefit the Trust's families.
- The Schools fundraise on behalf of several charities including the British Legion Poppy Appeal, Water Aid, Save The Children Fund, BBC Children in Need Appeal, Joy for Humanity, Shelter and others.
   The Trust does not have a formal sponsor.

Trustees' report (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### **Objectives and Activities**

#### **Objects and Aims**

The principal object and aim of the Charitable Company is the operation of its Schools to provide free education and care for pupils of different abilities between the ages of 3 and 11.

The Trustees and Members have defined the main objectives of the Trust as follows:

Our vision is to bring out the best in our pupils, our staff and our communities.

- We aim to give our pupils the best start in life through providing a creative and happy learning environment where achievement, mutual respect and self-esteem are valued.
- We aim to empower our pupils to have the necessary knowledge, skills, values, attitudes and understanding to make a positive contribution in a changing world both locally and globally.

We will:-

- Create safe, supportive, caring environments where children can flourish.
- Provide a broad, balanced, child-centred creative curriculum which is both accessible and appropriate to all our pupils.
- Demonstrate, expect and celebrate excellence in Achievement, Behaviour and Character.
- Develop and nurture an outstanding staff team.
- Be rigorous in the pursuit of inclusion and equity.
- Forge strong partnerships with parents and families.
- Work cooperatively within the Trust and with other schools, organisations and stakeholders.
- Equip children to become responsible global citizens, caring for the natural world and making wise, informed choices.
- Involve our Schools in the community and the community in our Schools.

#### Objectives, Strategies and Activities

The Trust's main objectives for 2024 - 2025 were:

#### **Governance Impact**

Ensure that directors on the trust board have a range of relevant skills, know the trust's schools well and have the knowledge they need to challenge leaders robustly when needed and make decisions that will result in excellence for pupils and the school communities.

#### **Finance Strategy**

Ensure probity, regularity and sustainability in managing the Trust finances. Ensure that value for money is obtained through robust internal controls and well managed relationships with suppliers. Adhere to regulatory and statutory requirements and follow best practices for financial planning. Manage reserves to ensure that resources are deployed to support all aspects of the Trust Development Plan.

Trustees' report (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### **Education Strategy**

Ensure the long term sustainability and continuity of excellent high quality education and experiences for pupils in the Trust's Schools.

- Develop staff to perform at their best and to meet the needs of the trust
- Recruit according to trust's needs and in line with the agreed staffing structure
- Monitor the demand for school places and consider whether more places can be made available
- Continue to focus on achieving high standards for all pupils with end of key stage assessment results being above the national average
- Keep the trust's curriculum provision under review, taking into consideration statutory changes, reliable educational research and the changing needs of our pupils.

#### **Growth Strategy**

Pursue the long-term viability of the trust by sponsoring further new schools in the local area. Ensure that the trust has leadership capacity to be well led and managed now and in the future.

- Explore the potential for adding other new free schools to the MAT (CEO) by cultivating close and
  mutually beneficial relationships with key figures involved in the establishing and awarding of new
  schools including building developers in the local area, the local authority
- Establish a reputation for excellence have a positive influence within and beyond Newham
- Plan for succession at senior leader levels

#### Strategic development of Trust's sites

- Identify site development needs across the Trust's school sites and secure the extension to Royal Wharf Primary School
- Plan for ongoing maintenance and general improvements to school sites
- Develop an ICT Strategy
- Address Royal Wharf Primary School defects. Ensure remedial works are completed.

#### **Public Benefit**

The Trustees believe that by working towards the objects and aims as detailed above, they have complied with their duty to have due regard to the guidance on public benefit published by the Charity Commission.

Pupils and their families are our main beneficiaries. Pupils are admitted to the trust's schools following an application to the London Borough of Newham's Admissions Team. Proximity to the school is one of the admissions criteria and most pupils live close to the school they attend, particularly at Royal Wharf where pupils typically live within a 4 minute walk of the school.

#### **Strategic Report**

#### **Achievements and Performance**

#### **Pupil numbers**

Both schools are very popular with local families and some year groups have had over 60 pupils where there have been successful appeals and where the Trust has admitted siblings in order to keep families together. Vacancies in years 5 and 6 is an increasing pattern where families choose to move out of the borough in order to access grammar school places for their child's secondary education.

Trustees' report (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### Nursery and Reception numbers for September 2025

Due to the fall in demand for nursery places, both nurseries have been capped at 26 FTE with reduced staff. Both nurseries had spare places for September 2025. Reception classes in both schools are full for September 2025 and Royal Wharf has a waiting list. Royal Wharf was, again, one of the two most oversubscribed schools in the borough being oversubscribed by around 40% for admission into reception for September 2025. As part of our transition process, all new families have had an opportunity to tour the schools, attend a Teddy Bear's picnic where they are able to meet other families and meet their reception teacher in school before the summer break.

#### Pupil attendance 2024 - 2025

Britannia Village - 93.8% all pupils, 93.6% FSM pupils
Royal Wharf - 94.8% all pupils, 93.5% FSM pupils
FFT National Average - 94.5% all pupils, 92.1% FSM pupils
Attendance at both schools was below the trust's target of 96%. Attendance of FSM pupils at both schools was above the FFT average.

#### **Teacher Recruitment and Retention**

Retention is high with only 5 teachers leaving at the end of the year (2025). Recruitment has been successful and there are no current vacancies for teaching staff although some maternity absences are covered by agency staff. The Trust has recruited a Deputy Head for Royal Wharf and one ECT for each school for September 2025. For September 2024 internal appointments were made to middle and senior manager positions (year group leaders, subject leaders and senior leaders), and unpaid facilitation roles were offered for staff to gain leadership experience.

#### **Support Staff Recruitment and Retention**

Currently the Trust's support staff are supplemented by a number of agency staff, some of whom have specialist SEND skills. The Trust continues to offer permanent employment to some and this is a reliable strategy for gradually increasing the Trust's support staff team with tried and tested staff.

#### Governance

The trust board remained stable with no changes to the membership during the year.

#### **School Improvement**

The Trust has strong school improvement capacity led by the Trust's Headship Team who meet weekly with a focused agenda.

School improvements are detailed in the SDP (School Development Plan) and progress on the plan is recorded on the same document and reviewed at least termly. The Trust's rigorous monitoring and evaluation cycle contributes to this self evaluation process which is reported to the Curriculum Committee termly. The Trust's CPD programme is used to promote high standards and consistency in all areas within the life of our schools.

Raising standards in reading and writing has been the top priority across all year groups, with a particular emphasis on supporting pupil premium children. A range of supporting CPD sessions have been delivered covering key areas such as reading domains, handwriting, Talk for Writing, marking, SEND provision and writing moderation. Termly pupil progress meetings were held between teachers, the SENCO and SLT links, with a detailed focus on data especially relating to pupil premium pupils. Additional teacher intervention time was achieved by year group classes combining for one afternoon a week so that one year group teacher could work directly with targeted children, aiming to accelerate progress.

### Trustees' report (continued) For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### Reading

Early reading has been monitored regularly during the first hour of the school day by the English Lead. Read Write Inc. strategies have been fully embedded, evidenced through learning walks and lesson visits. We continue to promote a love of reading through regular celebration events and all teachers are expected to read aloud to their class at least twice a week before home time.

In the Spring Term we began work on ensuring that Reading lessons were focused on the teaching of reading domains, following the visit and feedback from our School Improvement Partner. We have provided training to support our teachers in implementing this and in the Summer term we carried out Book Looks to see how this is translated into pupil outcomes. We were able to see that teaching was much more focused on the development of reading and comprehension skills. Teaching and learning was also much more explicit. We will continue to refine this in the new academic year.

#### <u>Curriculum Overview</u>

The Headteachers together with subject leaders carried out a review of our curriculum overview, which highlights the content of our whole curriculum at the top level. We are ensuring that this accurately identifies the key knowledge and skills taught throughout the year in each year group and that this demonstrates effective coverage and progression within and across year groups. We have acted on feedback from teachers that the curriculum is crowded (which is a National Issue that is under review) and stripped out content that was not considered useful or necessary. In the long term, this should reduce teacher workload as a high level of guidance is being provided.

#### Marking

Throughout the year we have been reviewing marking and feedback and have provided guidance for different curriculum areas. In the Summer Term, we were able to draw this together to provide an overview of marking and feedback practices across the curriculum.

#### Inclusion

The trust operates a Learning Pathways model for all learners on the SEND register (Pre-formal, Semi-formal Explore, Semi-formal Challenge, Formal).

Class teachers make adaptations for pupils with additional learning needs to enable them to be successful learners.

#### Promoting Pupils' Wellbeing

Pupils enjoy a rich and varied curriculum including weekly French lessons from Year 3 and Music lessons from Year 1, themed enrichment weeks, residential visits and the use of technology to enhance learning. Our arts curriculum is a strength, with visits from and to orchestras, theatres and musical performances as well as work with local artists. Creative homework projects and a creative approach to the delivery of the curriculum ensure pupils benefit from a variety of opportunities to develop their own talents and interests. A wide range of clubs (sports, academic, intervention and enrichment based) are offered at both schools. The take up of these clubs is very high.

The trust has well established systems of pastoral support including onsite access to a counsellor and Safeguarding Officer, as well as strong links with external agencies such as children's social care, speech and language therapists and specialist teachers.

Provision for SMSC is excellent with pupils having the opportunity to explore new ideas and experiences throughout the curriculum, incorporating our bespoke Qualities for Life. Our curriculum design allows for pupils to constantly share and reflect on their own experiences, alongside the experiences of others. This aids pupils in developing a strong understanding of the difference between right and wrong, supported by discrete lessons taught through our PSHE curriculum.

### Trustees' report (continued) For the year ended 31 August 2025

High profile school events, such as 'Careers Day' and opportunities to apply for a variety of pupil leadership roles ensure that children are fully involved and engaged in the values of the school and wider British society. The curriculum has been designed to recognise and celebrate the diversity of the school community and the world we live in. Discrete topics teach and challenge pupils to be responsible, active citizens, who contribute positively to society, being well prepared for life in modern Britain, such as the topic 'A Better World', as well as this being an integral part of our curriculum approach.

#### **Curriculum Enrichment**

The trust has been able to fund enrichment activities so that there is no cost to families. Examples include the provision of a range of after school clubs such as sports, cheerleading, dancing and music clubs led by qualified specialist coaches, as well as clubs provided by school staff such as drama, art, sewing, lego, chess etc.

The trust also funds all educational visits and ensures that every year group has an annual theatre experience.

#### **Google Educator Training**

The trust aims to have all teaching staff qualified to at least level 1 in Google Educator training by the end of a school year. This enables staff to teach using technology in innovative ways.

#### **Outcomes**

Through termly pupil progress meetings with each year group, senior leaders, the SENDCo and class teachers review attainment and progress and discuss adjustments to teaching for the following term as well as intervention for individual pupils.

Reception Good Level of Development, Year 1 phonics and KS2 statutory assessments were completed for this year and the data has been submitted to the local authority/Primary Assessment Gateway. Where it is available, there are comparisons with national data. The results are as follows and will be examined in detail in the autumn term once more national data is available to us.

#### Reception Good Level of Development

BV 2025 All/PP%	RW 2025 All/PP%	England Average 2024
Overall - 76/60	Overall - 80/75	Overall - 67.7

#### Year 1 Phonics Check

BV 2025 All/PP%	RW 2025 All/PP%	England Average 2025 %
81/71	84/67	80/67

### Trustees' report (continued) For the year ended 31 August 2025

KS2 SATs (Britannia Village)

	Working at ex	pected stan	dard and above	Working at 'Greater Depth'			
60 pupils	BVP	2025	National '25	BVP 2025		National '25	
8h	All	PP	All	All	PP	All	
Reading	70%	77%	75%	32%	31%	33%	
Writing	80%	88%	72%	23%	27%	13%	
SPAG*	63%	50%	73%	10%	8%	30%	
Maths	72%	69%	74%	20%	12%	26%	
RWM	62%	58%	62%	12%	8%	8%	

#### SPAG\* = Spelling and Grammar

#### Targeted use of grants:

Premium Funding (BV £195,836, RW £124,738), This grant was used for the following purposes in 2024 - 2025 -

#### Ensuring access to high quality teaching and learning through:

- smaller class sizes, typically around 20 pupils per class enable high quality teacher-pupil interactions and feedback to pupils
- use of evidence based schemes of work
- staff CPD in the use of technology and technological resources focused on supporting high quality teaching and learning, for example, training for all teachers in the use of Google classroom
- curriculum enrichment activities

#### **Targeted Academic Support:**

- Dedicated teacher intervention time within the school day
- Oral language interventions including SALT (Speech and Language Therapist)

Wider Strategies (related to attendance, behaviour and well-being):

- Vulnerable children in school to be offered weekly sessions with the School Counsellor
- Deployment of staff to support families to improve attendance and reduce persistent absenteeism

#### Awards achieved this year

Britannia Village - Silver Healthy Schools Award Royal Wharf - Silver Healthy Schools Award

#### Strategic development of the Trust's sites

#### Royal Wharf Extension

Work commenced on the extension to Royal Wharf Primary School in February half term. Since commencement, monthly progress meetings have taken place, attended by CEO, CFO, BM, architects and contractors and works have progressed in line with the timeline. Internal adjustments to first floor classrooms were completed over the summer break and the rooms were ready for use from September 2025.

#### Britannia Village Works

Work was completed on the BV Cooling strategy in April 2025.

A CIF bid was submitted for emergency lighting, signage, call points and fire doors. Unfortunately the bid was unsuccessful this year but will be resubmitted next year. The recent BV condition survey outcome will strengthen the bid.

### Trustees' report (continued) For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### **Key Financial Performance Indicators**

The key financial performance indicators set by the Trust are aimed at ensuring the financial viability of the organisation both short term and longer term. These are:

- setting and operating within a balanced budget as required by the Academy Trust Handbook achieved
- maintaining positive cash flow forecast for at least 12 months achieved
- keeping the level of staff cost below 80% the actual end of year total staff cost was 73% of revenue income.

The Board of Trustees is confident that staffing levels are closely monitored to agreed Full Time Equivalent and staffing structures are approved by the Board of Trustees.

The Finance and Audit Committee also monitors premises costs to General Annual Grant (GAG) income, capitation spend for curriculum departments to GAG income, total income less grants and cash flow on a regular basis to ensure that the budget is set and managed appropriately.

#### **Going Concern**

After making appropriate enquiries, the board of Trustees has a reasonable expectation that the Academy Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason it continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. Further details regarding the adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the Statement of Accounting Policies.

#### **Financial Review**

The principal source of funding for the Trust is the GAG and other grants that it received from the Department for Education (DfE) formerly the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA). For the year ended 31 August 2025 the Trust received £7,236,682 of GAG and other funding. A high percentage of this income is spent on wages and salaries and support costs to deliver the Trust's primary objective of the provision of education. During the year the Trust spent £7,471,441 on general running costs. The carry forward for 24/25 is £527,798 restricted general funding and £449,483 unrestricted (designated) funding.

Due to the accounting rules for the Local Government Pension under FRS102, the Trust is recognising a significant pension fund deficit of £Nil.

#### **Reserves Policy**

The Trustees are aware of the requirement to balance current and future needs and always aim to set a balanced budget with annual income balancing annual expenditure. The Trustees monitor estimated year-end carry forward figures via the monthly reports from the Head of Finance. The budget plan identifies how any carry forward will be allocated in the plan for the following academic year, including the identification of any funds earmarked for a specific project or purpose.

The Trustees have set up a designated fund for future building improvement projects by the Trust. This is funded by general unrestricted funds.

Restricted reserves have been built up to sufficient levels to be spent on education provision at its academies in the coming years while Royal Wharf Primary School continues to grow its pupils on roll at one year group per academic year.

The Trust has adopted a GAG and reserves pooling policy. All reserves derived from GAG funding are pooled, held and managed by the Trust. All other non-GAG reserves are held by the individual academies within the Trust.

### Trustees' report (continued) For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### **Investment Policy**

The aim of the policy is to ensure funds that the Trust does not immediately need to cover anticipated expenditure are invested to maximise the Trust's income but with minimal risk. The aim is to research where funds may be deposited applying prudency in ensuring there is minimum risk. The Trust does not consider the investment of surplus funds as a primary activity, rather as good stewardship and as and when circumstances allow.

#### **Principal Risks and Uncertainties**

The Trustees maintain a risk register identifying the major risks to which the Trust is exposed, and identifying actions and procedures to mitigate those risks. A formal review of the risk register process is undertaken on an annual basis and the internal control systems and the exposure to said risks are monitored on behalf of the Trustees at each Finance and Audit Committee meeting. The principal risks facing the Trust are outlined below; those facing the schools at an operational level are addressed by its systems and by internal financial and other controls.

The Trustees Report that the Trust's financial and internal controls conform to guidelines issued by the DfE, and that improvements to the wider framework of systems dealing with business risk and risk management strategy continue to be made and formally documented.

It is recognised that systems can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance that major risks have been adequately managed.

The level of financial risk is low. Cash flows can be reliably forecast, monitored and reported. Staff costs make up the majority of expenditure and are relatively stable with contingencies in place to cover such items as sickness and maternity.

The Trustees assess the other principal risks and uncertainties facing the Trust as follows:

- The Trust has considerable reliance on continued Government funding through the DfE and there is no assurance that Government policy or practice will remain the same or that public funding will continue at the same levels or on the same terms.
- A fall in pupil numbers would result in less funding however both schools provide a good quality of education and are well subscribed for entry to younger year groups. In order to mitigate against pupils leaving in Years 5 and 6, the CEO was successful in liaising with Oasis Community Learning to establish a secondary feeder school in Silvertown which is now well established. RWPS continues to grow with one additional year group on roll per year and had one of the highest number of applications for its reception intake, compared to the number of places available in Newham.
- Failures in governance and/or management the risk in this area arises from potential failure to effectively manage the Trust's finances, internal controls, compliance with regulations and legislation, statutory returns, estates management etc. The Trustees continue to review and ensure that appropriate measures are in place to mitigate these risks.
- Reputational the continuing success of the schools is dependent on continuing to attract applicants in sufficient numbers by maintaining the highest educational standards. To mitigate this risk Trustees ensure that student progress and outcomes are closely monitored and reviewed.
- Safeguarding and child protection the Trustees continue to ensure that the highest standards are maintained in the areas of selection and monitoring of staff, the operation of child protection policies and procedures, health & safety and discipline.
- Staffing the success of the schools is reliant on the quality of its staff and the Trustees monitor and review policies and procedures and recruitment to ensure continued development and training of staff as well as ensuring there is clear succession planning.

### Trustees' report (continued) For the year ended 31 August 2025

- Fraud and mismanagement of funds The Trust has appointed Price Bailey LLP as internal auditors to carry out independent and external checks on financial systems and records as required by the Academy Trust Handbook. All finance staff receive training to keep up to date with financial practice requirements and develop their skills in this area.
- Financial instruments the Trust only deals with bank balances, cash and trade creditors, with limited trade (and other) debtors. The risk in this area is considered to be low.
- Defined benefit pension liability as the Government has agreed to meet the defined benefit pension liability of any school ceasing to exist the main risk to the Trust is an annual cash flow funding of part of the deficit. Trustees take these payments into account when setting the annual budget plan.
- Legal claim made against the Trust the Trust has RPA insurance and Gold legal support through Winckworth Sherwood. The Trust has also developed relevant policies and risk assessments and ensures that, through induction and training, staff are aware and follow them.
- Cyber attacks the Trust's RPA policy includes cyber protection which helps mitigate the impact of cyber attacks to the Trust. The Trust carries out annual training with all staff and Trustees and employs an outsourced IT support provision to help reduce the risk of a cyber attack taking place.

The Trust has continued to strengthen its risk management process throughout the year by improving the process and ensuring staff awareness.

#### **Fundraising**

The Trust only held small fundraising events during the year and collection days for various charities. The Trust does not work with professional fundraisers or companies who carry out fundraising on its behalf. During the year no complaints or issues have arisen as a result of the fundraising events.

#### **Trustees Plans for Future Periods**

- Capital investment in improvements to the schools in the Trust
- Continue to focus on achieving high standards for pupils with end of key stage assessment results being above the national average
- Build on existing practices to recruit, develop and train staff to ensure a supply of good staff for future years
- Consider strategies to ensure that both schools achieve full pupil capacity in each year group
- Explore the potential for adding other new free schools to the MAT

#### **Auditor**

Insofar as the Trustees are aware:

- there is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company's auditor is unaware
- the Trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of the information.

### Trustees' report (continued) For the year ended 31 August 2025

The audit registration of Kreston Reeves LLP was transferred to Kreston Reeves Audit LLP on 6 October 2025. Kreston Reeves Audit LLP were formally appointed as auditor to the company on 6 October 2025.

The auditor, Kreston Reeves Audit LLP, has indicated its willingness to continue in office. The Trustees intend to undertake a formal tender process for the external audit in the next financial year. Following this process, a motion to appoint an external auditor will be proposed to the Members.

The Trustees' report, incorporating a strategic report, was approved by order of the Board of Trustees, as the company directors, on 2 December 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Helen Fernandes 03 Dec 2025 15:01:39 GMT (UTC +0)

**H Fernandes**Chair of Trustees

#### **Governance Statement**

#### Scope of responsibility

As Trustees, we acknowledge we have overall responsibility for ensuring that Britannia Education Trust has an effective and appropriate system of control, financial and otherwise. However, such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

As Trustees, we have reviewed and taken account of the guidance in DfE's Governance Guide.

The Board of Trustees has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the CEO/Executive Headteacher, as accounting officer, for ensuring financial controls conform with the requirements of both propriety and good financial management and in accordance with the requirements and responsibilities assigned to it in the funding agreement between Britannia Education Trust and the Secretary of State for Education. They are also responsible for reporting to the Board of Trustees any material weaknesses or breakdowns in internal control.

#### Governance

The information on governance included here supplements that described in the Trustees' report and in the Statement of trustees' responsibilities. The **Board of Trustees** has formally met 3 times during the year.

Attendance during the year at meetings of the Board of Trustees was as follows:

Trustee	Meetings attended	Out of a possible
R Burton	3	3
Helen Fernandes, Chair	3	3
M Niyibizi, appointed 10 October 2025	0	0
E Boxer	3	3
L Dawes	3	3
S Monaghan	3	3
T Peake	3	3
D Verroken, resigned 20 October 2025	3	3
S Obadan	3	3
J Gordon	3	3
R Masters	2	3
L Bingham , CEO/Executive Headteacher and accounting officer	3	3

#### Conflicts of interest:

To help manage conflicts of interest the Trust maintains an up to date register of interests for all members, Trustees and senior management. The opportunity to declare interests is given at every meeting of the board of Trustees and their committees. When faced with a conflict of interest the person who holds an interest should withdraw from any meeting, be excluded from participating in the decision-making process and should not vote on any matter relating to their interest. The conflict of interest will be recorded by the Clerk in the minutes of the meeting.

#### Governance reviews:

The Governance structure and Scheme of Delegation are reviewed annually by the Board. The current governance structure is deemed appropriate and effective. The Board of Trustees engaged the National Governance Association to carry out an external governance review in the 2021-22 academic year to ensure continued effective oversight.

#### **Governance Statement (continued)**

#### Governance (continued)

The **Finance and Audit Committee** is a sub-committee of the main board of Trustees. Its purpose is to ensure value for money, regularity and propriety in relation to the management of the Trust's funds and that the Trust's financial activities are conducted in line with funding agreements, the Academy Trust Handbook and the Trust's scheme of delegation.

Attendance at meetings in the year was as follows:

Trustee	Meetings attended	Out of a possible	
L Dawes, chair	4	4	
R Burton	4	4	
T Peake	3	4	
J Gordon	3	4	
R Masters	3	4	

#### Review of value for money

As accounting officer, the CEO/Executive Headteacher has responsibility for ensuring that the Trust delivers good value in the use of public resources. The accounting officer understands that value for money refers to the educational and wider societal outcomes achieved in return for the taxpayer resources received.

The accounting officer considers how the Trust's use of its resources has provided good value for money during each academic year, and reports to the board of Trustees where value for money can be improved, including the use of benchmarking data where appropriate. The accounting officer for the Academy Trust has delivered improved value for money during the year by:

- Utilising resources available for free or low cost which enrich the curriculum such as free travel for educational visits where possible, Class Dojo, Google classroom;
- Implementing a range of strategies that bring potential trainee teachers into our schools reducing advertising costs for ECTs;
- Sourcing free or low cost staff training such as NPQ qualifications and LGFL online courses
- Constantly reviewing suppliers for good quality and value resources, including online purchases where appropriate and ensuring budget holders comply with limits set out in the financial procedures;
- Implementing a rolling program for the purchase of good quality laptops and other tech equipment for staff so that they were able to plan and deliver high quality learning for pupils across the Trust's schools;
- An improved order and approval system that enables budget holders to be more aware of their ongoing spend
- Continuing to investigate latent defects identified in the Royal Wharf building and whose responsibility it is to meet the cost of repairs

Overall the Trust was able to maintain value for money as well as ensuring safety and management of the Trust's buildings in spite of continued challenging circumstances.

#### The purpose of the system of internal control

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of Academy Trust policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in Britannia Education Trust for the period to 31 August 2025 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements.

#### **Governance Statement (continued)**

#### Capacity to handle risk

The board of Trustees has reviewed the key risks to which the Academy Trust is exposed together with the operating, financial and compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. The board of Trustees is of the view that there is a formal on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing the Academy Trust's significant risks that has been in place for the period to 31 August 2025 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements. This process is regularly reviewed by the board of Trustees.

#### The risk and control framework

The Academy Trust's system of internal financial control is based on a framework of regular management information and administrative procedures including the segregation of duties and a system of delegation and accountability. In particular, it includes:

- comprehensive budgeting and monitoring systems with an annual budget and periodic financial reports which are reviewed and agreed by the Board of Trustees;
- regular reviews by the **Finance and Audit Committee** of reports which indicate financial performance against the forecasts and of major purchase plans, capital works and expenditure programmes;
- setting targets to measure financial and other performance;
- clearly defined purchasing (asset purchase or capital investment) guidelines;
- identification and management of risks.

The Board of Trustees has decided to employ Price Bailey LLP as internal auditor.

The internal auditor's role includes giving advice on financial matters and performing a range of checks on the Academy Trust's financial systems. In particular the checks carried out in the current period included:

 estates management including estates strategy, asset management plan, the estates budget, planned maintenance and contract management and tender procedures

On an annual basis, the internal auditor reports to the Board of Trustees through the Finance and Audit Committee on the operation of the systems of control and on the discharge of the Board of Trustees' financial responsibilities and annually prepares a summary report to the committee outlining the areas reviewed, key findings, recommendations and conclusions to help the committee consider actions and assess year on year progress.

#### **Governance Statement (continued)**

#### **Review of effectiveness**

As accounting officer, the CEO/Executive Headteacher has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control. During the year in question the review has been informed by:

- the work of the internal auditor;
- the work of external auditor;
- the school resource management self-assessment tool;
- the work of the executive managers within the Trust's who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework.

The accounting officer has been advised of the implications of the result of their review of the system of internal control by the Finance and Audit Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.

#### Conclusion

Based on the advice of the audit and risk committee and the accounting officer, the board of trustees is of the opinion that the academy trust has an adequate and effective framework for governance, risk management and control.

Approved by order of the members of the Board of Trustees on 2 December 2025 and signed on their behalf by:

Helen Fernandes 03 Dec 2025 15:01:39 GMT (UTC +0)

L Bingham

L. M. Bingham

Chair of Trustees

**H** Fernandes

Accounting Officer

Linda-May Bingham 03 Dec 2025 15:08:59 GMT (UTC +0)

#### Statement of Regularity, Propriety and Compliance

As accounting officer of Britannia Education Trust I confirm that I have had due regard to the framework of authorities governing regularity, propriety and compliance, including the trust's funding agreement with DfE, and the requirements of the Academy Trust Handbook, including responsibilities for estates safety and management. I have also considered my responsibility to notify the academy trust board of trustees and DfE of material irregularity, impropriety and non-compliance with terms and conditions of all funding, including for estates safety and management.

I confirm that I, and the board of trustees are able to identify any material irregular or improper use of all funds by the academy trust, or material non-compliance with the framework of authorities.

I confirm that no instances of material irregularity, impropriety or non-compliance have been discovered to date. If any instances are identified after the date of this statement, these will be notified to the board of trustees and DfE.

L M. Brigham
Linda-May Bingham 03 Dec 2025 15:08:59 GMT (UTC +0)

L Bingham

Accounting Officer

Date: 2 December 2025

#### Statement of Trustees' responsibilities For the year ended 31 August 2025

The Trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for preparing the Trustees' report and the financial statements in accordance with the Academies Accounts Direction published by the Department for Education, United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under company law, the Trustees must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and of its incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Trustees are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- observe the methods and principles of the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction 2024 to 2025;
- make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charitable company will continue in business.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the charitable company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the charitable company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that in its conduct and operation the charitable company applies financial and other controls, which conform with the requirements both of propriety and of good financial management. They are also responsible for ensuring grants received from DfE have been applied for the purposes intended.

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the charitable company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approved by order of the members of the Board of Trustees on 2 December 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Helen Fernandes 03 Dec 2025 15:01:39 GMT (UTC +0)

H Fernandes
Chair of Trustees

#### Independent auditors' Report on the financial statements to the Members of Britannia Education Trust

#### **Opinion**

We have audited the financial statements of Britannia Education Trust (the 'trust') for the year ended 31 August 2025 which comprise the Statement of financial activities, the Balance sheet, the Statement of cash flows and the related notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law, United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including Financial Reporting Standard 102 'The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland', the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction 2024 to 2025 issued by the Department for Education.

In our opinion the financial statements:

- give a true and fair view of the state of the Academy Trust's affairs as at 31 August 2025 and of its incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure for the year then ended:
- have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and
- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction 2024 to 2025 issued by the Department for Education.

#### **Basis for opinion**

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Academy Trust in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the United Kingdom, including the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

#### Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Trustees' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Academy Trust's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Trustees with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

### Independent auditors' Report on the financial statements to the Members of Britannia Education Trust (continued)

#### Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual report other than the financial statements and our Auditors' report thereon. The Trustees are responsible for the other information contained within the Annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

#### Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

- the information given in the Trustees' report including the Strategic report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
- the Trustees' report and the Strategic report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

#### Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the Academy Trust and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Trustees' report including the Strategic report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

- adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
- the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
- certain disclosures of Trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

#### Responsibilities of trustees

As explained more fully in the Statement of trustees' responsibilities, the Trustees (who are also the directors of the Academy Trust for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Academy Trust's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the Academy Trust or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

### Independent auditors' Report on the financial statements to the Members of Britannia Education Trust (continued)

#### Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an Auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:

Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud

Based on our understanding of the Academy Trust and the sector, and through discussion with the Trustees and other management (as required by auditing standards), we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related to child protection and safeguarding, health and safety and employment law. We considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the preparation of the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006, Statement of Recommended Practice, Academies Accounts Direction, Academy Trust Handbook, taxation, and pension legislation. We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-compliance throughout the audit. We evaluated management's incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate journal entries to increase revenue or reduce expenditure, management bias in accounting estimates and judgemental areas of the financial statements such as the valuation of land and buildings and revenue and non-compliance with financial management and governance requirements which are consistent with the obligations of public funded bodies. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

- Discussions with management and assessment of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations (including health and safety) and fraud, and review of the reports made by management and internal audit; and
- Assessment of identified fraud risk factors; and
- Consideration of income streams, completeness of income and compliance with the obligations of funders including the DfE; and
- Identifying and assessing the design effectiveness of controls that management has in place to prevent and detect fraud; and
- · Review of cash and credit card expenditure to confirm no evidence of personal benefit; and
- Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant accounting estimates; and
- Checking and reperforming the reconciliation of key control accounts; and
- Performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships, including related party transactions, that may indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud; and
- Confirmation of related parties with management, and review of transactions throughout the period to identify any previously undisclosed transactions with related parties outside the normal course of business; and
- Reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and reviewing correspondence with relevant tax and regulatory authorities; and
- Review of internal controls and physical inspection of tangible assets susceptible to fraud or irregularity; and
- Review of significant and unusual transactions and evaluation of the underlying financial rationale supporting the transactions; and
- Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any manual entries made at the year end for financial statement preparation.

### Independent auditors' Report on the financial statements to the Members of Britannia Education Trust (continued)

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is a risk that we will not detect all irregularities, including those leading to a material misstatement in the financial statements or non-compliance with regulation. This risk increases the more that compliance with a law or regulation is removed from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, as we will be less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (UK), we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
  are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion of the effectiveness
  of the Academy Trust's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Trustees.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Trustees' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Academy Trust's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our Auditors' report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our Auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Academy Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Independent auditors' Report on the financial statements to the Members of Britannia Education Trust (continued)

#### Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Academy Trust's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Academy Trust's members those matters we are required to state to them in an Auditors' report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Academy Trust and its members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Kroston Recues Rodif CLD Simon Webber 08 Dec 2025 09:07:40 GMT (UTC +0)

Simon Webber BA (Hons), DChA, FCA (Senior statutory auditor) for and on behalf of Kreston Reeves Audit LLP Statutory Auditor Chatham Maritime

3 December 2025

### Independent Reporting Accountant's Assurance Report on Regularity to Britannia Education Trust and the Secretary of State for Education

In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 8 October 2025 and further to the requirements of the Department for Education (DfE) as included in the extant Framework and Guide for External Auditors and Reporting Accountants of Academy Trusts 2024 to 2025, we have carried out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether anything has come to our attention that would suggest, in all material respects, the expenditure disbursed and income received by Britannia Education Trust during the year 1 September 2024 to 31 August 2025 have not been applied to the purposes identified by Parliament and that the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them.

This report is made solely to Britannia Education Trust and the Secretary of State for Education in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to Britannia Education Trust and the Secretary of State for Education those matters we are required to state in a report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than Britannia Education Trust and the Secretary of State for Education, for our work, for this report, or for the conclusion we have formed.

### Respective responsibilities of Britannia Education Trust's accounting officer and the reporting accountant

The accounting officer is responsible, under the requirements of Britannia Education Trust's funding agreement with the Secretary of State for Education dated 21 December 2017 and the Academy Trust Handbook, extant from 1 September 2024, for ensuring that expenditure disbursed and income received is applied for the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.

Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession's ethical guidance and are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our engagement letter and the requirements of the extant Framework and Guide for External Auditors and Reporting Accountants of Academy Trusts 2024 to 2025. We report to you whether anything has come to our attention in carrying out our work which suggests that in all material respects, expenditure disbursed and income received during the year 1 September 2024 to 31 August 2025 have not been applied to purposes intended by Parliament or that the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them.

# Independent Reporting Accountant's Assurance Report on Regularity to Britannia Education Trust and the Secretary of State for Education (continued) Approach

We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Framework and Guide for External Auditors and Reporting Accountant of Academy Trusts issued by DfE. We performed a limited assurance engagement as defined in our engagement letter.

The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information and explanations in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative conclusion on regularity.

A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a positive opinion.

Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and propriety of the Academy Trust's income and expenditure.

#### Work undertaken

- Reviewed the evidence used to support the Accounting Officer's sign off of the regularity statement.
- Reviewed expenditure against specific terms of grant funding within the Funding Agreement.
- Reviewed that grants have been applied for the purposes for which they were intended.
- Confirmed that internal control procedures exist relating to expenditure incurred of cash and credit cards.
- Confirmed items claimed on cash and credit cards are not for personal benefit.
- Reviewed expenditure and considered whether any supplies are from related parties.
- Reviewed Board of Trustee minutes for declaration of interests.
- Considered whether other income activities are permitted within the Academy Trust's charitable objects.
- Considered if borrowing agreements, including leases, have been made in accordance with the Academies Financial Handbook.
- Confirmed that procurement and tendering procedures exist relating to expenditure and have been complied with.
- Considered if the Trust's governance arrangements and composition are in-line with the Academy Trust handbook 2024.

#### Conclusion

In the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggest in all material respects the expenditure disbursed and income received during the year 1 September 2024 to 31 August 2025 has not been applied to purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them.

Krestin Reces Modif CLP
Simon Webber 08 Dec 2025 09:07:40 GMT (UTC +0)

Reporting Accountant **Kreston Reeves Audit LLP** Statutory Auditor

Date: 3 December 2025

### Statement of financial activities (incorporating income and expenditure account) For the year ended 31 August 2025

	Note	Unrestricted funds 2025 £	Restricted funds 2025	Restricted fixed asset funds 2025	Total funds 2025 £	Total funds 2024 £
Income from:						
Donations and capital grants	4	9,000	_	55,509	64,509	51,935
Other trading activities	6	117,816	-	-	117,816	101,489
Investments	7	47,912	5,000	-	52,912	56,659
Charitable activities	5	2,363	6,999,082	-	7,001,445	6,392,842
Total income		177,091	7,004,082	55,509	7,236,682	6,602,925
Expenditure on:						7 400 044
Charitable activities	8	24,894	7,057,749	388,798	7,471,441	7,100,644
Total expenditure		24,894	7,057,749	388,798	7,471,441	7,100,644
Net income/(expenditure) Transfers between		152,197	(53,667)	(333,289)	(234,759)	(497,719)
funds	18	(896,609)	-	896,609	-	-
Net movement in funds before other recognised						
gains/(losses)		(744,412)	(53,667)	563,320	(234,759)	(497,719)
Other recognised gains/(losses):						
Actuarial gains on defined benefit pension schemes	25	-	50,000	-	50,000	54,000
Net movement in			(0.00=)		(40.4.770)	(440.740)
funds		(744,412)	(3,667)	563,320 	(184,759)	(443,719)
Reconciliation of funds:						
Total funds brought forward		1,193,895	531,465	10,153,049	11,878,409	12,322,128
Net movement in funds		(744,412)	(3,667)	563,320	(184,759)	(443,719)
Total funds carried						
forward		449,483	527,798	10,716,369	11,693,650	11,878,409

The Statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year.

The notes on pages 31 to 57 form part of these financial statements.

#### **Britannia Education Trust**

(A company limited by guarantee) Registered number: 10689559

#### **Balance sheet**

As at 31 August 2025

	Note		2025 £		2024 £
Fixed assets					
Tangible assets  Current assets	15		10,716,369		10,153,049
Debtors	16	232,403		193,205	
Cash at bank and in hand		1,400,357		2,151,770	
		1,632,760		2,344,975	
Current liabilities					
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year	17	(655,479)		(619,615)	
Net current assets			977,281		1,725,360
Total assets less current liabilities			11,693,650		11,878,409
Total net assets			11,693,650		11,878,409
Funds of the Academy Trust Restricted funds:					
Fixed asset funds	18	10,716,369		10,153,049	
Restricted income funds	18	527,798		531,465	
Total restricted funds	18		11,244,167		10,684,514
Unrestricted income funds	18		449,483		1,193,895
Total funds			11,693,650		11,878,409

The financial statements on pages 28 to 57 were approved by the Trustees, and authorised for issue on 02 December 2025 and are signed on their behalf, by:



#### **H Fernandes**

Chair of Trustees

The notes on pages 31 to 57 form part of these financial statements.

#### Statement of cash flows For the year ended 31 August 2025

	Note	2025 £	2024 £
Cash flows from operating activities			
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities	20	88,284	(179,545)
Cash flows from investing activities	21	(839,697)	(88,280)
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year		(751,413)	(267,825)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		2,151,770	2,419,595
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year	22, 23	1,400,357	2,151,770

The notes on pages 31 to 57 form part of these financial statements

#### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 1. General information

Britannia Education Trust is a charitable company limited by guarantee and an exempt charity incorporated in England and Wales with registration number 10689559. The registered office is Britannia Village Primary School. Westwood Road, West Silvertown, London, United Kingdom, E16 2AW. The principal activity of the Academy Trust is to provide an education for pupils that satisfies the requirements of the Education Act 2002.

#### 2. Accounting policies

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied consistently, except where noted), judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below.

#### 2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements of the Academy Trust, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have been prepared under the historic cost convention in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard Applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Academies Accounts Direction 2024 to 2025 issued by DfE, the Charities Act 2011 and the Companies Act 2006.

Britannia Education Trust meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102.

The Trust's functional and presentational currency is Pounds Sterling.

#### 2.2 Going concern

The Trustees assess whether the use of going concern is appropriate i.e. whether there are any material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Academy Trust to continue as a going concern. The Trustees make this assessment in respect of a period of at least one year from the date of authorisation for issue of the financial statements and have concluded that the Academy Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and there are no material uncertainties about the Academy Trust's ability to continue as a going concern, thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

#### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 2. Accounting policies (continued)

#### 2.3 Income

All incoming resources are recognised when the Academy Trust has entitlement to the funds, the receipt is probable and the amount can be measured reliably.

#### Grants

Grants are included in the Statement of financial activities on a receivable basis. The balance of income received for specific purposes but not expended during the period is shown in the relevant funds on the Balance sheet. Where income is received in advance of meeting any performance-related conditions there is not unconditional entitlement to the income and its recognition is deferred and included in creditors as deferred income until the performance-related conditions are met. Where entitlement occurs before income is received, the income is accrued.

General Annual Grant is recognised in full in the Statement of financial activities in the year for which it is receivable and any abatement in respect of the year is deducted from income and recognised as a liability.

Capital grants are recognised in full when there is an unconditional entitlement to the grant. Unspent amounts of capital grants are reflected in the Balance sheet in the restricted fixed asset fund. Capital grants are recognised when there is entitlement and are not deferred over the life of the asset on which they are expended.

#### Donations

Donations are recognised on a receivable basis (where there are no performance-related conditions) where the receipt is probable and the amount can be reliably measured.

#### Other income

Other income, including the hire of facilities, is recognised in the year it is receivable and to the extent the Academy Trust has provided the goods or services.

#### Donated fixed assets (excluding transfers on conversion or into the Trust)

Where the donated good is a fixed asset it is measured at fair value, unless it is impractical to measure this reliably, in which case the cost of the item to the donor should be used. The gain is recognised as 'Income from Donations and Capital Grants' and a corresponding amount is included in the appropriate fixed asset category and depreciated over the useful economic life in accordance with the Academy Trust's accounting policies.

#### 2.4 Expenditure

Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic benefit to a third party, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required in settlement and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. Expenditure is classified by activity. The costs of each activity are made up of the total of direct costs and shared costs, including support costs involved in undertaking each activity. Direct costs attributable to a single activity are allocated directly to that activity. Shared costs which contribute to more than one activity and support costs which are not attributable to a single activity are apportioned between those activities on a basis consistent with the use of resources. Central staff costs are allocated on the basis of time spent, and depreciation charges allocated on the portion of the asset's use.

#### Charitable activities

These are costs incurred on the Academy Trust's educational operations, including support costs and costs relating to the governance of the Academy Trust's apportioned to charitable activities.

All resources expended are inclusive of irrecoverable VAT.

#### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 2. Accounting policies (continued)

#### 2.5 Interest receivable

Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be measured reliably by the Trust; this is normally upon notification of the interest paid or payable by the institution with whom the funds are deposited.

#### 2.6 Tangible fixed assets

Assets costing £2,000 or more are capitalised as tangible fixed assets and are carried at cost, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment.

Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants, either from the government or from the private sector, they are included in the Balance sheet at cost and depreciated over their expected useful economic life. Where there are specific conditions attached to the funding requiring the continued use of the asset, the related grants are credited to a restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of financial activities and carried forward in the Balance sheet. Depreciation on the relevant assets is charged directly to the restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of financial activities. Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with unrestricted funds, depreciation on such assets is charged to the unrestricted fund.

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets other than freehold land and assets under construction, at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset on a straight-line basis over its expected useful life, as follows:

Depreciation is provided on the following bases:

Long-term leasehold property
 50 years straight line
 5 years straight line
 3 years straight line

A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls between the carrying value of fixed assets and their recoverable amounts are recognised as impairments. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of financial activities.

#### 2.7 Debtors

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount after any trade discount offered. Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of any trade discounts due.

#### 2.8 Cash at bank and in hand

Cash at bank and in hand includes cash and short-term highly liquid investments with a short maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition or opening of the deposit or similar account.

#### 2.9 Liabilities

Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the Balance sheet date as a result of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement, and the amount of the settlement can be estimated reliably. Liabilities are recognised at the amount that the Academy Trust anticipates it will pay to settle the debt or the amount it has received as advanced payments for the goods or services it must provide.

Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 2. Accounting policies (continued)

#### 2.10 Financial instruments

The Academy Trust only holds basic financial instruments as defined in FRS 102. The financial assets and financial liabilities of the Academy Trust and their measurement bases are as follows:

Financial assets - trade and other debtors are basic financial instruments and are debt instruments measured at amortised cost as detailed in note 16. Prepayments are not financial instruments.

Cash at bank is classified as a basic financial instrument and is measured at face value.

Financial liabilities - trade creditors, accruals and other creditors are financial instruments, and are measured at amortised cost as detailed in note 17. Taxation and social security are not included in the financial instruments disclosure definition. Deferred income is not deemed to be a financial liability, as the cash settlement has already taken place and there is an obligation to deliver services rather than cash or another financial instrument.

#### 2.11 Operating leases

Rentals under operating leases are charged on a straight line basis over the lease term.

#### 2.12 Pensions

Retirement benefits to employees of the Academy Trust are provided by the Teachers' Pension Scheme ("TPS") and the Local Government Pension Scheme ("LGPS"). These are defined benefit schemes.

The TPS is an unfunded scheme and contributions are calculated so as to spread the cost of pensions over employees' working lives with the Academy Trust in such a way that the pension cost is a substantially level percentage of current and future pensionable payroll. The contributions are determined by the Government Actuary on the basis of quadrennial valuations using a prospective unit credit method. TPS is an unfunded multi-employer scheme with no underlying assets to assign between employers. Consequently, the TPS is treated as a defined contribution scheme for accounting purposes and the contributions recognised in the period to which they relate.

The LGPS is a funded multi-employer scheme and the assets are held separately from those of the Academy Trust in separate trustee administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liabilities. The actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at each Balance sheet date. The amounts charged to operating surplus are the current service costs and the costs of scheme introductions, benefit changes, settlements and curtailments. They are included as part of staff costs as incurred. Net interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset is also recognised in the Statement of financial activities and comprises the interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and interest income on the scheme assets, calculated by multiplying the fair value of the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by the rate used to discount the benefit obligations. The difference between the interest income on the scheme assets and the actual return on the scheme assets is recognised in other recognised gains and losses.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other recognised gains and losses.

#### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 2. Accounting policies (continued)

#### 2.13 Fund accounting

Unrestricted income funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the charitable objects of the Academy Trust at the discretion of the Trustees.

Designated funds comprise unrestricted funds that have been set aside by the Trustees for particular purposes. The aim and use of each designated fund is set out in the notes to the financial statements.

Restricted fixed asset funds are resources which are to be applied to specific capital purposes imposed by the funders where the asset acquired or created is held for a specific purpose.

Restricted general funds comprise all other restricted funds received with restrictions imposed by the funder/donor and include grants from the Department for Education Group.

Investment income, gains and losses are allocated to the appropriate fund.

#### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 3. Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgment

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions:

The Academy Trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates and assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme

The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost or income for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions, which are disclosed in note 25, will impact the carrying amount of the pension liability. Furthermore a roll forward approach which projects results from the latest actuarial valuation performed at 31 March 2022 has been used by the actuary in valuing the pensions liability at 31 August 2025. Any differences between the figures derived from the roll forward approach and a full actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying amount of the pension liability.

#### Tangible fixed assets

The Academy Trust has recognised tangible fixed assets with a carrying value of £10,716,369 at the reporting date (see note 15). These assets are stated at their cost less provision for depreciation and impairment. The Academy Trust's accounting policy sets out the approach to calculating depreciation for immaterial assets acquired. For material assets such as land and buildings the Academy Trust determines at acquisition reliable estimates for the useful life of the asset, its residual value and decommissioning costs. These estimates are based upon such factors as the expected use of the acquired asset and market conditions. At subsequent reporting dates the Trustees consider whether there are any factors such as technological advancements or changes in market conditions that indicate a need to reconsider the estimates used.

Where there are indicators that the carrying value of tangible assets may be impaired the Academy Trust undertakes tests to determine the recoverable amount of assets. These tests require estimates of the fair value of assets less cost to sell and of their value in use. Wherever possible the estimate of the fair value of assets is based upon observable market prices less incremental cost for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based upon a discounted cash flow model, based upon the Academy Trusts' forecasts for the foreseeable future which do not include any restructuring activities that the Academy Trust is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the asset's performance. The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow model as well expected future cash flows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.

#### Critical areas of judgement:

#### Lease commitments

The Academy Trust has entered into a range of lease commitments in respect of plant and equipment. The classification of these leases as either financial or operating leases requires the Trustees to consider whether the terms and conditions of each lease are such that the Academy Trust has acquired the risks and rewards associated with the ownership of the underlying assets.

#### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 3. Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgment (continued)

Multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme

Certain employees participate in a multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme with other companies in the region. In the judgement of the Trustees the Academy Trust does not have sufficient information of the plans assets and liabilities to be able to reliably account for its share of the defined obligation and plan assets. Therefore the scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution scheme, see note 25 for further details.

The plan surplus as at 31 August 2025 was £406,000 (2024: surplus of £13,000). A pension plan asset is recognised to the extent that the company is able to recover the surplus either through reduced contributions in the future or through refunds from the plan. In the opinion of the trustees, the academy trust will not recover the surplus through reduced contributions and they do not anticipate receiving any refunds from the plan and therefore the net surplus recognised within the financial statements has been restricted to £NIL.

#### 4. Income from donations and capital grants

ı	Unrestricted funds 2025 £	Restricted fixed asset funds 2025 £	Total funds 2025 £	Total funds 2024 £
Donations Capital Grants	9,000	- 55,509	9,000 55,509	- 51,935
	9,000	55,509	64,509	51,935
Total 2024		51,935	51,935	

### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 5. Funding for the Trust's provision of education

	Unrestricted funds 2025 £	Restricted funds 2025 £	Total funds 2025 £	Total funds 2024 £
DfE Grants				
General Annual Grant (GAG)	-	5,206,499	5,206,499	4,713,659
Pupil Premium	-	320,574	320,574	262,453
Universal Infant Free School Meals	-	135,786	135,786	138,442
Other DfE Group grants	-	406,093	406,093	361,326
Other Government grants	-	6,068,952	6,068,952	5,475,880
Local Authority Grants	-	930,130	930,130	915,454
Other funding		930,130	930,130	915,454
Catering Income	2,363	-	2,363	1,508
	2,363	-	2,363	1,508
	2,363	6,999,082	7,001,445	6,392,842
	2,363	6,999,082	7,001,445	6,392,842
Total 2024	1,508	6,391,334	6,392,842	

### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 6. Other trading activities

				Unrestricted funds 2025 £	Total funds 2025 £	Total funds 2024 £
	Other income			117,816	117,816	101,489
	Total 2024			101,489	101,489	
7.	Investment income					
			Unrestricted funds 2025 £	Restricted funds 2025 £	Total funds 2025 £	Total funds 2024 £
	Investment income		47,912	-	47,912	56,659
	Pension income		-	5,000	5,000	-
			47,912	5,000	52,912	56,659
	Total 2024		56,659		56,659	
8.	Expenditure					
		Staff Costs 2025 £	Premises 2025 £	Other 2025 £	Total 2025 £	Total 2024 £
	Direct costs	3,676,332	-	474,425	4,150,757	3,856,526
	Allocated support costs	1,575,277	391,995	1,353,412	3,320,684	3,244,118
		5,251,609	391,995	1,827,837	7,471,441	7,100,644
	Total 2024	5,103,881	443,244	1,553,519	7,100,644	

### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 9. Analysis of expenditure by activities

	Activities undertaken directly 2025 £	Support costs 2025 £	Total funds 2025 £	Total funds 2024 £
Educational operations	4,150,757	3,320,684	7,471,441	7,100,644
Total 2024	3,856,526	3,244,118	7,100,644	
Analysis of direct costs				
		Educational operations 2025	Total funds 2025 £	Total funds 2024 £
Staff costs Educational materials		operations 2025	funds 2025	funds 2024
		operations 2025 £ 3,676,332	funds 2025 £ 3,676,332	funds 2024 £ 3,328,213
Educational materials Computer costs		operations 2025 £ 3,676,332 236,761 10,716	funds 2025 £ 3,676,332 236,761 10,716	funds 2024 £ 3,328,213 287,044 16,143

### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 9. Analysis of expenditure by activities (continued)

#### **Analysis of support costs**

	Educational operations 2025	Total funds 2025 £	Total funds 2024 £
Staff costs	1,575,277	1,575,277	1,433,224
Depreciation	379,798	379,798	389,613
Premises costs	391,995	391,995	443,244
Technology costs	75,016	75,016	79,179
Other support costs	561,357	561,357	526,670
Governance costs	11,484	11,484	13,338
Legal & professional costs	24,923	24,923	16,406
Agency staff costs	300,834	300,834	342,444
	3,320,684	3,320,684	3,244,118
Total 2024	3,244,118	3,244,118	

#### 10. Net income/(expenditure)

Net income/(expenditure) for the year includes:

	2025 £	2024 £
Operating lease rentals	416	416
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets	379,798	389,613
Fees paid to auditors for:		
- audit	14,175	15,500
- other services	5,325	3,150

### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 11. Staff

#### a. Staff costs and employee benefits

Staff costs during the year were as follows:

	2025 £	2024 £
Wages and salaries	3,674,401	3,720,670
Social security costs	451,546	388,569
Pension costs	824,828	652,198
	4,950,775	4,761,437
Agency staff costs	300,834	342,444
	5,251,609	5,103,881

#### b. Staff numbers

The average number of persons employed by the Academy Trust during the year was as follows:

	2025 No.	2024 No.
Teachers	49	48
Administration and support	49	52
Management	8	8
• •	106	108
The average headcount expressed as full-time equivalents was:		
	2025 No.	2024 No.
Teachers	45	45
Administration and support	31	38
Management	8	8
·	84	91

#### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 11. Staff (continued)

#### c. Higher paid staff

The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs) exceeded £60,000 was:

	2025 No.	2024 No.
In the band £60,001 - £70,000	12	6
In the band £70,001 - £80,000	1	1
In the band £80,001 - £90,000	1	1
In the band £90,001 - £100,000	1	1
In the band £130,000 - £140,000	-	1
In the band £140,001 - £150,000	1	-

#### d. Key management personnel

The key management personnel of the Academy Trust comprise the Trustees and the senior management team as listed on page 1. The total amount of employee benefits (including employer pension contributions and employer national insurance contributions) received by key management personnel for their services to the Academy Trust was £615,760 (2024 - £595,931).

#### 12. Central services

The Trust has provided the following central service to its academies during the financial year: financial services; educational support services; and human resources.

In accordance with the funding agreement with the DfE, the Trust pools the General Annual Grant (GAG) and therefore does not recharge out central services.

#### 13. Trustees' remuneration and expenses

One or more Trustees has been paid remuneration or has received other benefits from an employment with the Academy Trust. The CEO and other staff Trustees only receive remuneration in respect of services they provide undertaking the roles of CEO and staff members under their contracts of employment. The value of Trustees' remuneration and other benefits was as follows:

		2025	2024
		£	£
L Bingham	Remuneration	145,000 -	130,000 -
		150,000	135,000
	Pension contributions paid	40,000 -	30,000 -
		45,000	35,000

During the year ended 31 August 2025, no Trustee expenses have been incurred (2024 - £NIL).

### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 14. Trustees' and Officers' insurance

In accordance with normal commercial practice, the Academy Trust has purchased insurance to protect Trustees and officers from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on academy business. The insurance provides cover up to £10,000,000. The cost of this insurance is included in the total insurance cost.

#### 15. Tangible fixed assets

	Long-term leasehold property £	Furniture and equipment £	Computer equipment £	Total £
Cost or valuation				
At 1 September 2024	10,992,447	599,309	680,994	12,272,750
Additions	847,989	4,315	90,814	943,118
Disposals	-	-	(7,067)	(7,067)
At 31 August 2025	11,840,436	603,624	764,741	13,208,801
Depreciation				
At 1 September 2024	1,140,495	411,751	567,455	2,119,701
Charge for the year	225,459	72,252	82,087	379,798
On disposals	-	-	(7,067)	(7,067)
At 31 August 2025	1,365,954	484,003	642,475	2,492,432
Net book value				
At 31 August 2025	10,474,482	119,621	122,266	10,716,369
At 31 August 2024	9,851,952	187,558	113,539	10,153,049

### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 16. Debtors

2	2025 £	2024 £
Due within one year		
•	131	5,489
Other debtors 51,	532	40,930
Prepayments and accrued income 173,	740	146,786
232,	403	193,205
17. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year		
2	2025 £	2024 £
Trade creditors 318,	894	240,453
Other taxation and social security 108,	227	91,374
Other creditors 84,	641	91,492
Accruals and deferred income 143,	717	196,296
655,	479	619,615
2	2025 £	2024 £
Deferred income at 1 September 2024 80,	759	101,696
Resources deferred during the year 80,	131	80,759
Amounts released from previous periods (80,	759)	(101,696)
80,	131	80,759

Deferred income received relates to Universal Infant Free School Meals income and other DfE income relating to the Autumn Term 2025.

### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 18. Statement of funds

	Balance at 1 September 2024 £	Income £	Expenditure £	Transfers in/out £	Gains/ (Losses) £	Balance at 31 August 2025 £
Unrestricted funds						
Designated funds						
Building improvement fund	1,100,000			(650,517)		449,483
General funds						
General Funds	93,895	177,091	(24,894)	(246,092)	-	-
Total Unrestricted funds	1,193,895	177,091	(24,894)	(896,609)		449,483
Restricted general funds						
General Annual Grant (GAG)	531,465	5,206,499	(5,210,166)	-	-	527,798
Pupil Premium	-	320,574	(320,574)	-	-	-
Universal Infant Free School Meals	-	135,786	(135,786)	-	_	-
Other DfE Grants	_	406,093	(406,093)	-	-	-
Other Government		020 420	(020.420)			
Grants Pension reserve	-	930,130 5,000	(930,130) (55,000)	-	50,000	-
	531,465	7,004,082	(7,057,749)		50,000	527,798
Restricted fixed asset funds						
Fixed Asset Funds	10,153,049	-	(388,798)	952,118	-	10,716,369
DfE Group Capital Grants	-	55,509	-	(55,509)	-	-
	10,153,049	55,509	(388,798)	896,609	-	10,716,369

#### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 18. Statement of funds (continued)

	Balance at 1 September 2024 £	Income £	Expenditure £	Transfers in/out £	Gains/ (Losses) £	Balance at 31 August 2025 £
Total Restricted funds	10,684,514	7,059,591	(7,446,547)	896,609	50,000	11,244,167
Total funds	11,878,409	7,236,682	(7,471,441)	<u>-</u>	50,000	11,693,650

The specific purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows:

The designated funds will be used to fund the ongoing Royal Wharf extension project which is also included in the capital commitments discloure (note 24).

Unrestricted funds are applied to the general work of the Academy Trust to support activities inside and outside the curriculum.

GAG represents to be used to cover normal running costs of the Academy Trust.

Pupil premium is DfE grant given to schools for under privileged children to help improve their education and reduce the attainment gap.

UIFSM supports schools in delivering the legal requirement to offer free school meals to all reception, year 1 and year 2 pupils.

Other DfE grants represent those grants provided for specific purposes, such as universal infant free schools, teachers pay and teachers pension grants.

Other government grants represent those grants provided for specific purposes, such as early years and SEN funding, to provide additional support to the pupils where required.

The restricted fixed asset fund represents the tangible fixed assets including depreciation to the Balance Sheet date. Capital grants are also represented and provide the Academy Trust with its own capital money to address improvements to buildings and other facilities.

Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the Academy Trust was not subject to a limit on the amount of GAG it could carry forward at 31 August 2025.

### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 18. Statement of funds (continued)

Comparative information in respect of the preceding year is as follows:

Unrestricted	Balance at 1 September 2023 £	Income £	Expenditure £	Transfers in/out £	Gains/ (Losses) £	Balance at 31 August 2024 £
funds						
Designated funds						
Building improvement fund	1,100,000			<u>-</u> ,		1,100,000
General funds						
General Funds	173,197	159,656	(27,705)	(211,253)	-	93,895
Total Unrestricted funds	1,273,197	159,656	(27,705)	(211,253)		1,193,895
Restricted general funds						
General Annual Grant (GAG)	810,143	4,713,659	(5,058,651)	66,314	_	531,465
Pupil Premium Universal Infant	-	262,453	(262,453)	-	-	-
Free School Meals Other DfE	-	138,442	(138,442)	-	-	-
Grants Other	-	361,326	(361,326)	-	-	-
Government Grants	-	915,454	(915,454)	<u>-</u>	-	-
Pension reserve	(107,000)	-	53,000	-	54,000	-
	703,143	6,391,334	(6,683,326)	66,314	54,000	531,465
Restricted fixed asset funds						
Fixed Asset Funds	10,345,788	-	(389,613)	196,874	-	10,153,049
DfE Group Capital Grants	-	51,935	-	(51,935)	-	-

### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 18. Statement of funds (continued)

	Balance at 1 September 2023 £	Income £	Expenditure £	Transfers in/out £	Gains/ (Losses) £	Balance at 31 August 2024 £
	10,345,788	51,935	(389,613)	144,939	-	10,153,049
Total Restricted funds	11,048,931	6,443,269	(7,072,939)	211,253	54,000	10,684,514
Total funds	12,322,128	6,602,925	(7,100,644)		54,000	11,878,409

#### Total funds analysis by academy

Fund balances for each academy at 31 August 2025 and 31 August 2024 were zero, hence a breakdown by academy is not included in these accounts.

#### Total cost analysis by academy

Expenditure incurred by each academy during the year was as follows:

	Teaching and educational support staff costs £	Other support staff costs £	Educational supplies £	Other costs excluding depreciation £	Total 2025 £	Total 2024 £
Britannia Village Primary School	2,034,681	842,228	254,825	626,085	3,757,819	3,693,478
Royal Wharf Primary School	1,641,651	678,049	164,004	659,813	3,143,517	2,877,667
Britannia Education Trust	-	55,000	14,596	120,711	190,307	139,886
Academy Trust	3,676,332	1,575,277	433,425	1,406,609	7,091,643	6,711,031

### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

20.

#### 19. Analysis of net assets between funds

#### Analysis of net assets between funds - current year

	Unrestricted funds 2025 £	Restricted funds 2025 £	Restricted fixed asset funds 2025	Total funds 2025 £
Tangible fixed assets	-	-	10,716,369	10,716,369
Current assets	499,537	1,133,223	-	1,632,760
Creditors due within one year	(50,054)	(605,425)	-	(655,479)
Total	449,483	527,798	10,716,369	11,693,650
Analysis of net assets between funds	s - prior year			
	Unrestricted funds 2024 £	Restricted funds 2024 £	Restricted fixed asset funds 2024 £	Total funds 2024 £
Tangible fixed assets	-	-	10,153,049	10,153,049
Current assets	1,193,895	1,151,080	-	2,344,975
Creditors due within one year	-	(619,615)	-	(619,615)
Total	1,193,895	531,465	10,153,049	11,878,409
Reconciliation of net expenditure to	net cash flow from op	erating activit	ties	
			2025 £	2024 £
Net expenditure for the year (as per Sta	atement of financial acti	vities)	(234,759)	(497,719)
Adjustments for:				
Depreciation			379,798	389,613
Capital grants from DfE and other capit	al income		(55,509)	(51,936)
Interest receivable			(47,912)	(56,659)
Defined benefit pension scheme obligat	tion inherited		50,000	(53,000)
(Increase)/decrease in debtors			(39,198)	33,989
Increase/(decrease) in creditors			35,864	56,167
Net cash provided by/(used in) opera	ating activities		88,284	(179,545)

### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 21. Cash flows from investing activities

			2025 £	2024 £
	Dividends, interest and rents from investments		47,912	56,659
	Purchase of tangible fixed assets		(943,118)	
	Capital grants from DfE Group		55,509	51,935
	Net cash used in investing activities		(839,697)	(88,280)
22.	Analysis of cash and cash equivalents			
			2025 £	2024 £
	Cash in hand and at bank		1,400,357	2,151,770
	Total cash and cash equivalents		1,400,357	2,151,770
23.	Analysis of changes in net debt			
		At 1 September 2024 £	Cash flows £	At 31 August 2025 £
	Cash at bank and in hand	2,151,770	(751,413)	1,400,357
		2,151,770	(751,413)	1,400,357
24.	Capital commitments			
			2025 £	2024 £
	Contracted for but not provided in these financial staten	nents		
	Acquisition of tangible fixed assets		562,125	223,057

#### 25. Pension commitments

The Academy Trust's employees belong to two principal pension schemes: the Teachers' Pension Scheme England and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; and the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for non-teaching staff, which is managed by London Borough of Newham. Both are multi-employer defined benefit schemes.

#### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 25. Pension commitments (continued)

The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS related to the period ended 31 March 2016 and of the LGPS 31 March 2022.

Contributions amounting to £83,982 were payable to the schemes at 31 August 2025 (2024 - £90,524) and are included within creditors.

#### **Teachers' Pension Scheme**

The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed by the Teachers' Pension Scheme Regulations 2014. Membership is automatic for full-time teachers in academies. All teachers have the option to opt-out of the TPS following enrolment.

The TPS is an unfunded scheme to which both the member and employer makes contributions, as a percentage of salary - these contributions are credited to the Exchequer. Retirement and other pension benefits are paid by public funds provided by Parliament.

#### Valuation of the Teachers' Pension Scheme

The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of the TPS in accordance with the Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014 published by HM Treasury every 4 years. The aim of the review is to ensure scheme costs are recognised and managed appropriately and the review specifies the level of future contributions.

Actuarial scheme valuations are dependent on assumptions about the value of future costs, design of benefits and many other factors. The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2020. The valuation report was published by the Department for Education on 27 October 2023, with the SCAPE rate, set by HMT, applying a notional investment return based on 1.7% above the rate of CPI. The key elements of the valuation outcome are:

- employer contribution rates set at 23.68% of pensionable pay (including a 0.08% administration levy)
- total scheme liabilities (pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost of future benefits) for service to the effective date of £218,100 million and notional assets (estimated future contributions together with the notional investments held at the valuation date) of £196,100 million, giving a notional past service deficit of £22,000 million

The result of this valuation was implemented on 1 April 2024. The next valuation result is due to be implemented from 1 April 2027.

The employer's pension costs paid to TPS in the year amounted to £605,577 (2024 - £484,768).

A copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation is on the Teachers' Pensions website (https://www.teacherspensions.co.uk/news/employers/2019/04/teachers-pensions-valuation-report.aspx).

Under the definitions set out in FRS 102, the TPS is an unfunded multi-employer pension scheme. The Academy Trust has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. The Academy Trust has set out above the information available on the scheme.

#### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 25. Pension commitments (continued)

#### **Local Government Pension Scheme**

The LGPS is a funded defined benefit pension scheme, with the assets held in separate trustee-administered funds. The total contribution made for the year ended 31 August 2025 was £288,000 (2024 - £295,000), of which employer's contributions totalled £199,000 (2024 - £229,000) and employees' contributions totalled £89,000 (2024 - £66,000). The agreed contribution rates for future years are 19.3 per cent for employers and 5.5 - 12.5 per cent for employees.

Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to a guarantee that, in the event of academy closure, outstanding Local Government Pension Scheme liabilities would be met by the Department for Education. The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013 and on 21 July 2022, the Department for Education reaffirmed its commitment to the guarantee, with a parliamentary minute published on GOV.UK.

The plan surplus as at 31 August 2025 was £406,000 (2024: £13,000). A pension plan asset is recognised to the extent that the company is able to recover the surplus either through reduced contributions in the future or through refunds from the plan. In the opinion of the trustees, the academy trust will not recover the surplus through reduced contributions and they do not anticipate receiving any refunds from the plan and therefore the net surplus recognised within the financial statements has been restricted to £NIL.

#### Principal actuarial assumptions

	2025 %	2024 %
Rate of increase in salaries	3.55	3.80
Rate of increase for pensions in payment/inflation	2.95	2.80
Discount rate for scheme liabilities	6.05	5.10
Inflation assumption (CPI)	2.55	2.80
Inflation assumption (RPI)	3.55	3.80

The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates. The assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are:

	2025 Years	2024 Years
Retiring today		
Males	21.0	19.7
Females	23.7	23.1
Retiring in 20 years		
Males	22.7	21.1
Females	25.5	24.6

### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 25. Pension commitments (continued)

#### Sensitivity analysis

	2025 £000	2024 £000
Discount rate +0.1%	(33,000)	(37,000)
Discount rate -0.1%	34,000	36,000
Mortality assumption - 1 year increase	43,000	55,000
Mortality assumption - 1 year decrease	(42,000)	(53,000)
CPI rate +0.1%	1,000	2,000
CPI rate -0.1%	(1,000)	(2,000)

### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 25. Pension commitments (continued)

#### Share of scheme assets

The Academy Trust's share of the assets in the scheme was:

The readonly truete chare of the decede in the contents was.		
	At 31 August 2025 £	At 31 August 2024 £
Equities	1,576,000	1,341,000
Other bonds	151,000	153,000
Property	308,000	267,000
Cash and other liquid assets	121,000	53,000
Alternative Assets	180,000	147,000
Total market value of assets	2,336,000	1,961,000
The actual return on scheme assets was £126,000 (2024 - £213,000).		
The amounts recognised in the Statement of financial activities are as follow	rs:	
	2025 £	2024 £
Current service cost	(252,000)	(175,000)
Interest cost	5,000	-
Administrative expenses	(2,000)	(1,000)
Total amount recognised in the Statement of financial activities	(249,000)	(176,000)
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations were as follo	ws:	
	2025 £	2024 £
At 1 September	1,961,000	1,754,000
Current service cost	252,000	175,000
Interest cost	101,000	90,000
Employee contributions	89,000	66,000
Benefits paid	(37,000)	,
Actuarial (gains)/losses	(30,000)	69,000
At 31 August	2,336,000	1,961,000

#### Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 25. Pension commitments (continued)

Changes in the fair value of the Academy Trust's share of scheme assets were as follows:

	2025 £	2024 £
At 1 September	1,961,000	1,647,000
Return on assets	20,000	123,000
Interest income	106,000	90,000
Employer contributions	199,000	229,000
Employee contributions	89,000	66,000
Benefits paid	(37,000)	(193,000)
Administration expenses	(2,000)	(1,000)
At 31 August	2,336,000	1,961,000

#### 26. Operating lease commitments

At 31 August 2025 the Academy Trust had commitments to make future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

	2025 £	2024 £
Not later than 1 year	208	416
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years	-	104
	208	520

#### 27. Members' liability

Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the event of it being wound up while he/she is a member, or within one year after he/she ceases to be a member, such amount as may be required, not exceeding £10 for the debts and liabilities contracted before he/she ceases to be a member.

Notes to the financial statements For the year ended 31 August 2025

#### 28. Related party transactions

Owing to the nature of the Academy Trust and the composition of the Board of Trustees being drawn from local public and private sector organisations, transactions may take place with organisations in which the Trustees have an interest. All transactions involving such organisations are conducted in accordance with the requirements of the Academy Trust Handbook, including notifying the DfE of all transactions made on or after 1 April 2019 and obtaining their approval where required, and with the Academy Trust's financial regulations and normal procurement procedures relating to connected and related party transactions.

The following related party transactions took place in the financial period:

During the year Britannia Education Trust made 2 donations to the West Silvertown Foundation totalling £20,338 (2024: £20,159). These are related party transactions due to Helen Fernandes (a trustee) being the CEO of the West Silvertown Foundation. The DfE were notified of these transactions. As at 31 August 2025 £Nil was owed to the West Silvertown Foundation (2024: £Nil) In entering into this transaction the Academy Trust has complied with the requirements of the Academy Trust Handbook 2024.